### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

800 WHITE

ROBERT J. LONG, :

AFR >28 1996

Appellant,

CLERK SERVICE COURT

vs.

Case No. 83,559

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

A. ANNE OWENS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 284920

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

### TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal from Appellant Robert J. Long's third trial for the murder of Virginia Johnson, in Pasco County, Florida. Long's legal name is "Bobby Joe Long," and he will sometimes be referred to as "Bob" or "Bobby Joe" in this brief. References to the trial transcript, including penalty phase, will be designated by the letter "T." and the page number. Transcripts of the pretrial and sentencing hearings, and other court documents, are numbered separately from the trial transcript, and will be referenced by the letter "R." and the page number. The supplemental record will be referenced by "SR." and the page number.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Robert J. Long, was charged by indictment, filed December 6, 1984, with the first-degree murder of Virginia Johnson in Pasco County, Florida. (R. 6-7). At his 1985 trial, Long was convicted and sentenced to death This Court overturned Long's conviction because his confession was obtained in violation of his right to counsel. Long v. State, 517 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 1987).

On September 23, 1985, prior to the reversal in this case, Long entered into a plea agreement in Hillsborough County, whereby he pled guilty to all offenses charged in Hillsborough County, which included eight counts of first-degree murder, eight counts of kidnapping, seven counts of sexual battery, and the kidnapping and sexual battery of Lisa McVey, whose abduction led to Long's arrest on November 16, 1984. Long agreed not to contest the admissibility of his confessions or the physical evidence, in return for which

the State agreed to the imposition of life sentences for all crimes charged, except the murder of Michelle Simms. The penalty for Simms' murder was to be determined at a penalty proceeding at which the State would seek the death penalty. The plea agreement provided that the State would not use the convictions resulting from the plea agreement against Long. (R. 61-64))

Long was sentenced to death for the Simms murder at a penalty proceeding in 1986. In 1988, this Court vacated his death sentence because the State used Long's Pasco conviction, which had since been vacated, to establish an aggravator. Long v State, 529 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1988). Long was again sentenced to death for the Simms murder in a penalty trial moved to Daytona Beach. That sentence was upheld in Long v. State, 610 So. 2d 1268 (Fla. 1993).

In 1988, Long's was retried in this, the Pasco County case, in a trial moved to Fort Myers. The jury heard testimony and evidence concerning four Tampa homicides and the Lisa McVey sexual battery, all of which were covered by the Hillsborough County plea agreement. The State used the crimes covered by the Hillsborough County plea agreement to establish the "prior violent felony" aggravator. The jury returned a guilty verdict and the judge imposed the death penalty. Long v. State, 610 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 1992). (R. 10-26)

This Court reversed on appeal, holding that the trial court erred by allowing the State to introduce four Hillsborough County convictions as <u>Williams</u> rule<sup>1</sup> evidence, because those homicides, rather than the one for which Long was on trial, became the

See Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654, (Fla.), cert. denied,
361 U.S. 847 (1959).

"feature of the case," and because the State introduced portions of a CBS News videotaped interview with Bobby Joe Long, made after Long's first convictions in Pasco and Hillsborough Counties, without making the entire tape available to the defense. 610 So. 2d at 1280. The Court determined further that:

Under the unique circumstances of this case, including the plea agreement, we find that the four other murders could not be presented at this trial. We decline, however, to hold that all of the evidence regarding the McVey incident is inadmissible. We note that the confession Long made in the McVey case is valid and was made before he enteredintothe Hillsborough County plea agree-Long was initially apprehended, as previously noted, through information supplied by McVey, and it was that arrest and the subsequent examination of his vehicle that supplied hair and fiber samples connecting him to As such, that evidence is the victim in this case. clearly admissible to establish Long's identity and to connect him to the victim in this case. However, in our view, the details of Long's treatment of McVey in his apartment and his guilty plea are not admissible under the circumstances of this case.

Finally, with regard to the penalty phase, we note that the Hillsborough County pleas and convictions were considered as factors in aggravation against Long. In the Hillsborough County case, Long pleaded guilty to eight murders in return for, among other things, the promise that his guilty pleas would not be used against him in other subsequent penalty proceedings. that agreement was drafted to apply only to Hillsborough County and the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, the record of the plea proceedings in that case indicates that both parties understood the agreement to mean that the pleas could not be used adversely against Long in any subsequent proceeding. Obviously, at the time he entered into that agreement, the first trial in this case had already been completed and the death sentence had been imposed. Thus, although the record clearly reflects Long's understanding that offenses for which he was convicted before he entered into the plea agreement could be used against there was no mention of the use of Long's Hillsborough County pleas in a subsequent retrial of this Little doubt exists that one of the major benefits intended to be received by Long in entering into the plea agreement was that his guilty pleas could not be used against him in subsequent proceedings. Consequently, ensure the continued validity of the Hillsborough County plea agreement, we find that it was error to allow evidence of those murders to be introduced in aggravation against him in this case. . . .

As to the admissibility of the CBS tape at the retrial, this Court stated as follows:

We disagree . . . with Long's contention that no part of the videotape is admissible because it merely shows criminal propensity and because it refers to the Hills-borough County murders that Long claims were improperly introduced as <u>Williams</u> rule evidence. We find that, upon remand, the videotape may be admissible as an admission against interest; however, whether some of Long's statements are substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice are issues that can be addressed in the new trial. . . .

610 So. 2d at 1280-81 (footnotes omitted). (R. 20-21)

Although Pasco County Judge Wayne Cobb heard and ruled on all pretrial motions, he recused himself and granted a change of venue for Long's third trial. (R. 345, 400) The trial was held in the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Ocala, Florida, commencing January 21, 1994. (R. 410) Sixth Circuit Judge Charles W. Cope presided. (R. 498) The jury found Long guilty as charged and recommended a sentence of death by a seven to five vote. (R. 499-500)

A sentencing allocution hearing was held March 9-11, 1994. (R. 511-18) On March 18, 1994, Long was sentenced to death. (R. 519) Although the judge did not orally enumerate the aggravating and mitigating circumstances found, he made and filed written findings in support of the death penalty on that date. (R. 522-29, 1913) He found three aggravating factors and various mitigation. (R. 522-29)

Notice of Appeal was filed April 18, 1994. (R. 646) The Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R. 1915) This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### Guilt Phase

Alvin Duggan testified that the victim, Virginia Johnson, lived at his house just prior to her disappearance. (T. 489-90). Sometimes she was gone for periods of time, staying overnight elsewhere. (T. 500) In mid-October of 1984, he took Virginia to a health clinic. (T. 490-91) The last time he saw her was about a week after that when she left the house early in the morning to buy a pack of cigarettes at the Alamo Lounge. (T. 491). Virginia owned a floating heart necklace which she always wore. (T. 492).

Sharon Martinez met Virginia Johnson at the Alamo Liquors, a bar on North Nebraska Avenue. Johnson lived with her for about a month in 1984. (T. 1084-86). Martinez last saw her friend around the middle of October, 1984.<sup>2</sup> (T. 1124) According to Martinez, Johnson had an alcohol problem. When Martinez last saw Johnson, who had just returned from seeing her probation officer, Johnson told her that she was injecting cocaine and heroin (speedballing), and engaging in prostitution. (T. 1086-89, 1112-13)

Nurse Bernadine Herrman examined Virginia Johnson on October 15, 1984, at the Hillsborough County Health Department's sexually transmitted disease clinic. (T. 512) Virginia, age 18, came to the clinic because she had been in contact with someone with gonorrhea. She reported that she last had sex a day earlier, and that she had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although Johnson's body was found on November 6, 1984, she was not reported missing until November 18, 1984. She had been missing for about a month. Long, 610 So. 2d at 1277.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Deputy Ken Hagin found a document in Johnson's belongings showing that she was on probation for prostitution. (T. 885-86)

had "many" sexual partners in the last month. (T. 516) She had been treated four times for gonorrhea, the last time being in 1984. (T. 519) Because her gonorrhea smear was positive, Ms. Herrman treated Virginia for gonorrhea and told her to return in a week for further test results. Virginia did not return. (T. 517-18)

On November 6, 1984, a horseback riding instructor, Linda Phethean Konst, and her student, Candy Linville, discovered the remains of a body while riding their horses on a dirt road in Pasco County. (T. 528-30, 543). The bones began 20-25 feet from the dirt road and were spread out in the high grass. (T. 534). The location was three or four miles from the Hillsborough County line, and about thirty miles from downtown Tampa. (R. 528-29, 545)

Pasco County deputy sheriff Christopher White responded to the scene, and the two women showed him where they found the bones, (T. 551-52) He observed a patch of grass that was pushed down a little, a dark area, and the skeletal remains of a body. They found a tuft of hair and a pair of women's underwear. (T. 552-53)

FDLE crime lab analyst Barbara Vohlken described their grid search. (T. 555-56) Grid A was the area in which they found dark stains and matted grass. Grid B was where most of the bones were found. They collected bones, hair, panties, a shoelace, and a cloth item found below the chin area. (T. 560-70) Ms. Vohlken used a metal detector, but found no bullets or other metal objects. She had no idea whether the victim died at that location. (T. 577)

Ken Hagin of the Pasco County Sheriff's office also responded to the scene. (T. 590-91) He observed the partially mummified and skeletonized upper torso of a human body. (T. 600) The grass

appeared trampled in a darkened area. (T. 598) He observed no tire tracks or drag marks. (T. 609) Over defense objection, 'Hagin testified that, in his opinion, Johnson died "[e]xactly where I found the darkened area." (T. 609-10)

Bobby Joe Long was arrested in Tampa on November 16, 1984. (T. 605). On November 19, 1984, Hagin went to Terry Duggan's house and obtained some of Virginia Johnson's personal effects. (T. 695). Her parents and dentist, Jack Gish of Danbury, Connecticut, were located and contacted. Dr. Gish sent Johnson's dental x-rays which Hagin took to Dr. Ken Martin, a dental consultant with the Medical Examiner's office. (T. 605-08) Hagin x-rayed the victim's teeth and confirmed Virginia Johnson's identity. (T. 637-40).

Dr. Joan Wood, the medical examiner, went to the crime scene on November 6, 1984. Dr. Wood participated in the grid search, and did not see any red fibers. (T. 1015-18, 1050) She observed a darkened area in the grass where the bones were found, caused by body fluids leaking during decomposition. (T. 1016) Dr. Wood estimated that the body had been dead from ten to fifteen days and had been in the field a significant amount of that time. Although it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Defense counsel objected to Hagin's testimony that he knew Johnson was killed where her body was found, because his knowledge was obtained from Long's suppressed confession. The prosecutor advised that Hagin would testify that he could tell that Johnson was killed where her body was found based on blood stains, an area of struggle, and the lack of tire tracks. Defense counsel objected because Hagin never testified in that fashion before; he previously testified that he made no conclusion as to where Johnson was killed. The judge overruled the objection. (T. 580-87, 609-10)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Dr. Jack Gish identified Johnson's dental x-rays taken October 8, 1982, and testified that he sent them to Detective Hagin in Pasco county. (T. 630-32)

had decomposed there, she could not say whether the victim was actually killed there, or whether her body was deposited there after death. (T. 1017, 1042) She could not tell whether the victim was killed in Hillsborough or Pasco County. (T. 1049)

X-rays taken at the medical examiner's office did not reveal any bullets or fractures to the bones. (T. 1019) Dr. Wood removed a knit tank top from around the neck, and found a shoelace wrapped twice around the neck and a necklace with a floating heart pendant. At the tip of one end of the shoelace, was a small loop. (T. 1021-22). A second shoelace found at the scene had two loops, each big enough for a wrist. One contained a hand bone. (T. 1026)

After consulting with forensic anthropologist Curtis Wienker, a professor of anthropology at the University of South Florida, Dr. Wood determined that the remains were those of a white female. (T. 1018, 1027). She found that the cause of death was "homicidal violence, probably garrotment." She based her opinion on the victim's young age, that she was found semi-nude in a field outside of her county of residence, shoelaces around her neck and wrists, and the absence of injury to the bones before death. (T. 1031) She found no fractures of the neck banes. (T. 1049)

Dr. Wood could not rule out other causes of death, She acknowledged that it was possible that the victim was stabbed or shot although they found no evidence of that. They were unable to do any testing to determine whether her blood contained cocaine, alcohol or other drugs. (T. 1044-45) Dr. Wood agreed that Johnson

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Dr. Wienker, who studied the skeletal remains at Dr. Wood's office, concluded that the victim was eighteen to twenty. (T. 646)

could have died from a blow to the head although there was no skull fracture. She did not know whether the ligature was placed around the neck before or after death.' (T. 1049). If the victim was strangled and the pressure continuous, it would have taken two to three minutes for her to die. If the pressure interfered with blood flow into the head, the victim could have become unconscious in as little as fifteen seconds. (T. 1033-34)

Lisa McVey testified that in 1984, when she was seventeen years old, she worked at a Krispy Kreme Donut Shop in Tampa. (T. On November 3, 1984, she got off work around 2:30 a.m. and 704). began to ride home on her bicycle. As she rode past a van, someone grabbed her off her bicycle and threw her to the ground. her to stop screaming or he would kill her. She felt a revolver at her left temple.' (T. 706-08) Her abductor drug her across the street to a car, and told her to keep her eyes shut. He shoved her into the car and told her she was going to show him a good time for He told her to strip, which she did. She saw a gun on two hours. The man said he had a knife although she never saw or the seat. felt the knife. McVey testified that she was blindfolded part of the time. (T. 710-13)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Dr. Wood acknowledged that some persons have accidentally suffocated from being strangled during orgasm to increase sexual excitement by creating a relative lack of oxygen. (T. 1043-44)

B Defense counsel requested that the record reflect that Lisa McVey started crying and was handed tissue by the bailiff. He objected to testimony that her abductor used a gun because there was no evidence of a gun in the Johnson case, and argued that McVey's testimony was becoming the feature of the case. Judge Cope overruled his objection because Judge Cobb had ruled that the probative value of the testimony outweighed the prejudice. (T. 708)

They arrived at an apartment building and Lisa's shirt, pants and shoes were "placed back on." They went into the apartment. About 24 hours later, they went back out to the car. She wore her white pants and a blue shirt. The man asked where she lived. They stopped at a bank and a gas station. The man dropped her off in a parking lot, gave her the rest of her clothing, and told her that if she notified the police, as he believed she would, she should describe him as having long hair. (T. 714-16)

Lisa notified the Tampa Police Department. (T. 716) She described the vehicle as a maroon two-door mid-sized car with a white interior, with the word "Magnum" on the dashboard in silver letters. The carpet was red. (T. 717-18). Lisa gave Detective Polly Goethe the clothing she was wearing.' (T. 719)

Over defense objection, Lisa McVey identified Long as her abductor. (T. 719) On cross-examination, however, she admitted that she was never able to see her abductor. (T. 769) McVey also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Following McVey's direct testimony, the judge advised the jury that "the evidence which has been admitted to show similar crimes, wrongs or acts allegedly committed by the defendant will be considered only as that evidence relates to proof of identity on the part of defendant. . . . (T. 721-22) The judge denied the defense motion for mistrial based on the introduction of McVey's testimony about activities in the car, her abductor forcing her to remove her clothes, and guns and knives. (T. 723)

Defense counsel told the judge that McVey had never been able to identify Long in ten years. The judge allowed him to question McVey outside the presence of the jury prior to Cross-examination. (T. 719-21) McVey admitted she had never before been able to identify Long and never saw his face. She said she "knew his voice" and could "feel his presence," She touched Long's face ten years ago. At the time, she had been unable to pick out Long's photograph, however, and had recently said on a talk show that she never saw Long's face until the last trial. (T. 723-25)

testified that she signed a contract for book and movie rights. She received a down payment of \$1500 in 1985. She was currently participating with the author, Joy Wallman, who was in the courtroom at the time. (T. 769-70)

On November 14, 1984, Detective Carson Helms received information about a suspect in the abduction of Lisa McVey. The suspect was a white male in his thirties, about five feet seven, medium build, with short brown hair, driving a maroon Dodge Magnum. (T. 804-05) On November 15, 1984, he and Detective C.D. Wolfe saw such a vehicle traveling north on Nebraska Avenue, driven by a white male. The officers pulled the vehicle over. The driver gave Helms a license which identified him as Bobby Joe Long. The detectives took photographs of Long and his car, and let him go. (T. 805-07)

Harold Winsett of the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office, participated in the arrest of Bobby Joe Long at the Main Street Shopping Center in Tampa, where Long was coming out of a movie theater. (T. 810-11) Winsett transported Long to the sheriff's operation center. (T. 812) Lt. Randy Latimer of the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office and Sergeant Price of the Tampa Police Department interrogated Long on November 16, 1984, in connection with the kidnapping of Lisa McVey. (T. 835-37) After being advised of his rights, Long admitted that he abducted Lisa McVey from a bicycle, asked her to undress in the car, and had taken her up to his apartment after dressing and blindfolding her. He used a gun to abduct her and threw it off a bridge or causeway. (T. 838-39)

Long's Dodge Magnum was impounded. (T. 815-16) Deputy Steve Moore vacuumed the car's interior and collected the sweepings. (T.

857-61). Detective Cribb drove the sweepings, a sample of Long's hair, and the carpet from Long's car to the FBI lab in Washington D.C., where he turned them over to Agent Mike Malone. (T. 864-70)

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