FILED and J. WHITE

JUL 15 1996

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERES, SLAP COURT

ROBERT J. LONG,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 83,593

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The lower court did not err reversibly in allowing evidence of Long's abduction of Lisa McVey. This Court in its remand opinion announced that evidence of the McVey incident information supplied by McVey which led to Long's arrest and examination of his vehicle for hair and fiber samples - was admissible to establish Long's identity and to connect him to the victim in this case. To the extent that Appellant now argues that a more expansive view of McVey should have been used to put events in context he may not do so since the argument he advanced

below was that no McVey evidence should be introduced. McVey evidence did not become a feature of the case. There was no violation of the plea agreement.

II. The lower court properly allowed in portions of the Long videotaped interview with CBS. After an evidentiary hearing was conducted wherein the lower could determine the credibility of witnesses, the lower court found that CBS had not agreed to furnish editorial control to Long's attorney, Mr. Rubin, and that Long and Rubin had engaged in a considered strategy to have the interview to assist his psychological defense.

III. The lower court properly allowed excerpts of Long's videotaped interview with CBS correspondent Corderi since it was an admission against interest describing his modus operandi and the selection of victims. The trial court limited the amount of material to be introduced and its relevance was not outweighed by unfair prejudice.

IV. The lower court did not err in allowing FBI hair and fiber expert testify to an opinion within his field of expertise. The determination of a witness' qualifications to express an opinion is peculiarly within the discretion of the trial judge

and Appellant has made no clear showing of error requiring reversal.

V. The lower court properly denied a motion for judgment of acquittal since sufficient evidence was presented that Virginia Johnson was premeditatedly killed and that Long was the perpetrator.

VI. The trial court properly permitted Detective Karen Collins to provide hearsay reports at the penalty phase of the facts surrounding Long's rape convictions of Nuttal and Jensen. See Long v. State, 610 So. 2d 1268 (Fla. 1993); Wyatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1994); Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989); Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995).

VII. The trial court correctly found the presence of the CCP aggravator in this methodical execution. Even if the trial court did err in this regard, it is clearly harmless error in light of the two remaining valid aggravators, each of which - the trial judge articulated - outweighed the totality of mitigation presented.

VIII. Appellant did not timely object to the HAC jury instruction and thus any complaint thereon is barred. Even if properly preserved, the instruction conformed to that approved by

this Court in <u>Hall v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993).

IX. The trial court correctly found the presence of the HAC aggravator. Death by strangulation qualifies as especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 580 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1991).

X. The trial court did not err in failing to find and weigh mitigating factors. The court considered all and explained why it was accepting some and rejecting others. If Appellant is complaining that the trial court should have considered and found mitigating evidence not presented, the court was not required to do so.

XI. The death sentence should not be reduced to life. Mr. Long is an extremely violent man as indicated by his rapes of Nuttal and Jensen, the instant murder and the lack of adequate mitigation to support a life sentence.

XII. The claim that a bare majority recommendation of the jury is unconstitutional appears not to have been preserved for appellate review by objection below and is meritless.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF LONG'S ABDUCTION OF LISA McVEY.

In Appellant's last appeal to this Court, the Court opined:

"Under the unique circumstances of this case, including the plea agreement, we find that the four other murders could not be presented at this trial. We decline, however, to hold that all of the evidence regarding the McVey incident is inadmissible. We note that the confession Long made in the McVey case is valid and was made before he entered into the Hillsborough County plea agreement. Long was initially apprehended, as previously noted, through information supplied by McVey, and it was that arrest and the subsequent examination of his vehicle that supplied hair and fiber samples connecting him to the victim in this case. As such, that evidence is clearly admissible to establish Long's identity and to connect him to the victim in this case. However, in our view, the details of Long's treatment of McVey in his apartment and his quilty plea are not admissible under the circumstances of this case."

Long v. State, 610 So. 2d 1276, 1280-1281 (Fla. 1992)(emphasis

supplied).

The Court remanded for a new trial at which:

"(3) testimony concerning the McVey incident may be admitted to identify Long in this case so long as the details of Long's treatment of McVey in his apartment and his subsequent plea of guilty in that case are excluded..."

<u>Id.</u> at 1281).

At a motion in limine hearing on October 11, 1993, the defense argued that to allow evidence of the Lisa McVey abduction would violate the plea agreement. (R. 1962). The court denied the motion "except to reiterate what the Supreme Court has said." (R. 1964). The lower court granted in part and denied in part the motion in limine regarding the McVey testimony. (R. 1976, R 132).

At the trial on February 3, 1994, defense counsel argued that McVey's testimony would constitute improper <u>Williams</u>-rule and violated the plea agreement. (TR. 684). The state responded with its argument and the court ruled:

> "...that the details of Long's treatment of McVey in the apartment and the car should not be admissible. Counsel should conduct their examination -- that will not be admissible unless the door is opened or other circumstances mandate that it become admissible. And counsel should conduct their questioning of this witness consistent with Long v. State, 610 So. 2d...

> > * *

The details of Long's treatment of McVey in his apartment and I'm going to extend that to what happened in the car.

MR. HEDDICKSON: As far as any sexual battery in the car.

THE COURT: That is correct." (TR. 699).

The court reiterated that the witness was not going to testify that she was a rape victim and it found that the probative value outweighed its prejudicial impact. (TR. 700-701).

The trial court instructed the jury prior to McVey's testimony that it should be considered only as it relates to identity and the defendant was not on trial for a crime not included in the indictment (TR. 703) and the jury was reinstructed after her direct testimony (TR. 722).

McVey testified that on November 2, 1984 she was employed at the Krispy Kreme Donut Shop and after leaving work at about two in the morning someone grabbed her off her bicycle and threatened to kill her if she didn't stop screaming. (TR. 704-707). She felt a revolver to her temple. (TR. 708, 710). She was dragged into a car and told to keep her eyes shut. (TR. 711). The man ordered her to strip and she saw the revolver (TR. 712); he also said he had a knife. They drove for about thirty minutes and she thought they were on the interstate. When they stopped she

entered an apartment. On November 4 she went back out to the car. (TR. 713-714). The assailant drove her to a parking lot and released her. (TR. 715-716). She notified the police. McVey described the vehicle (maroon, two door, mid-size with spoked wheels, the dashboard had the word "MAGNUM" and there were no knobs to pull the locks up). (TR. 717-718). She provided her clothing to Detective Doethe and identified Long in court. (TR. 719, 721).

Long argues that the trial court misunderstood this Court's prior decision regarding the admissibility of the McVey evidence. He contends in this Court that the court below "ruled that the prosecution could use the evidence only to prove identity but allowed the jury to use it as <u>Williams</u> rule evidence." (Brief, p. 26). Long argues that this Court intended "that the trial judge permit sufficient evidence concerning Long's abduction of McVey and subsequent arrest to identify Long as the owner of the car in which two hairs were found, and from which carpet fiber was obtained to compare with the fiber found in Johnson's hair mass." (Brief, pp. 26-27).

Appellant's concern stated here that the trial court should have allowed a more expansive view of admissibility of McVey evidence is unavailing since not argued below -- in the lower

court the defense was vigorously arguing that McVey testimony could not be admitted <u>at all</u> and that this honorable Court was in error for suggesting that it would be admitted. (R. 1960-1974).¹

Further, at the time of trial, the defense argued that just because the state Supreme Court had determined a limited admissibility for the McVey evidence "that doesn't mean that a federal court isn't going to agree with me completely." (TR 684). Long maintained that use of McVey would be improper <u>Williams</u> rule, would violate his plea agreement and that McVey would become a "feature" of the case. (TR. 684-685). When the prosecutor argued that the Florida Supreme Court indicated that the facts in the McVey case were admissible because "it's what happened to her that led to the arrest of the defendant and subsequently the search and seizure of the motor vehicle" (TR.

¹The defense maintained at the October 11, 1993 motion in limine hearing that to allow McVey in "even under the limited outlines set forth by the Supreme Court" would be to allow an improper aggravating circumstance (R. 1960), that allowing McVey abduction evidence constituted a violation of the plea agreement (R. 1962), that the Supreme Court "erred by not including the abduction of Lisa McVey...they did not go far enough when they did not include the abduction aspect" (R. 1962). The defense asked the court to bar the state from using Lisa McVey "as to the abduction as well." (R. 1962). When the lower court mentioned that some of the defense argument "was ruled against by the Supreme Court" defense counsel responded that unfortunately he didn't argue the case. (R. 1973-1974).

688), and that the prosecutor wanted to get into the sexual battery on Lisa McVey (because the Florida Supreme Court opinion at 610 So. 2d 1281 noted that Long's McVey confession was valid and made prior to the Hillsborough County plea agreement), the lower court adopted a more balanced view than that argued by the advocates: the treatment of McVey in the apartment and car would not be admitted - no mention of rape of McVey would be allowed and that the probative evidence of what was admitted outweighed its prejudicial impact. (TR. 699-700).

Since Long did not want any of the McVey evidence to be introduced, he cannot be heard to change his argument in the appellate court to argue that additional background facts should have been included to put matters in context. See <u>Lindsey v.</u> <u>State</u>, 636 So. 2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 1994) ("Because Lindsey failed to object to this testimony when given, and on the ground now argued, he failed to preserve this issue for review.") (emphasis supplied); <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982); <u>Terry v. State</u>, 21 Florida Law Weekly S9 (Fla. 1996). To the extent that Appellant merely seeks as in a belated rehearing to re-argue the correctness of this Court's prior decision reported at 610 So. 2d 1276, he may not do so. The trial court correctly obeyed this Court's remand order and the court's prior decision

recognized that evidence about the Long-McVey incident "was clearly admissible to establish Long's identity and to connect him to the victim in this case." <u>Id.</u> at 1281. That Long both in the lower court and here disagrees with that determination is unfortunate, but not greatly so.

Quite apart from announcing his disagreement with this Court's prior ruling on the admissibility of McVey evidence - and boasting below that this court did not have the benefit of trial counsel's personal argument (R. 1973-1974) - Appellant argues that McVey became a "feature" of the case.² The jury was repeatedly cautioned on the limited purpose for which McVey's testimony was to be considered, i.e., that Long was not on trial for criminal offenses involving McVey. (TR. 703, 722, 801, 834, 856, 913). Her testimony was fairly brief (TR. 704-721) and certainly in terms of volume was nothing comparable to the last trial and appeal wherein this court observed:

²Appellant's contention that the volume of testimony regarding the McVey incident was excessive must fail. See <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 330 So. 2d 457 (Fla. 1976) (approving introduction of six hundred pages of transcript pointing to separate crimes by the defendant); <u>Burr v. State</u>, 466 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1985) (evidence of three other incidents); <u>Townsend v. State</u>, 420 So. 2d 615 (Fla. 1982) (collateral evidence was not an impermissible feature although twice as many pages of testimony related to other crimes).

"Approximately four hours of testimony was presented concerning the murder in issue in this case while more than three days of testimony was presented concerning these other offenses."

610 So. 2d at 1280.

McVey's two dozen pages of testimony hardly became a "feature" of the case. Long hypothesizes that it "must have been obvious to the jury that McVey was raped." (Brief, p. 32). Appellee disagrees that this was obvious, especially when the trial court adamantly refused to allow rape testimony. (TR. 699, 833).

Long complains that the lower court allowed four other witnesses to testify about the McVey case, citing the brief testimony of Detective Helms (TR. 804-809), Deputy Winsett (TR. 810-812), Detective Lattimer (TR. 835-839) and FBI hair and fiber expert Malone (TR. 916-918). Such truncated testimony was appropriate given this Court's mandate that the evidence of the McVey incident that was appropriate and admissible included "information supplied by McVey" and "the examination of his vehicle that supplied hair and fiber samples connecting him to the victim in this case." 610 So. 2d at 1281.

Long alludes, in footnote 29, to Appellant's admissions to CBS correspondent Victoria Corderi mentioning the McVey

abduction. While the transcript of the Long-Corderi interview approximates forty pages (R. 361-399), only a few pages were deemed admissible by the trial court (TR. 1061-1068) and only a few of his comments relate to McVey.

Both this Court and Mr. Long are well aware that in the prior appeal to review his conviction for this Virginia Johnson homicide Appellant argued (Point III, Case No. 74,017 reported at 610 So. 2d 1276) that it was error to admit "Williams-rule" evidence regarding the kidnapping and sexual battery of Lisa McVey because, inter alia, it was dissimilar. But evidence of other crimes, even if dissimilar, is admissible where relevancy to an issue at trial is established. See Brvan v. State, 533 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1988); <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So. 2d 270, 275 (Fla. 1988); <u>Pittman v. State</u>, 646 So. 2d 167, 170 (Fla. 1994); <u>Gorham</u> v. State, 454 So. 2d 556, 558 (Fla. 1984). And this Court previously determined that McVey evidence was "clearly admissible to establish Long's identity and to connect him to the victim in this case." 610 So. 2d at 1281. See also <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 527 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1988) (poisoning was unusual modus operandi and facts of other incidents admissible to show identity, motive and common plan or scheme).

The contention that use of McVey as a witness and evidence of her abduction which led to the development of evidence and apprehension of Long for the Virginia Johnson homicide violated the plea agreement was presented and rejected in Long's last appeal wherein the Court authorized the use of McVey evidence to establish Long's identity and to connect him to the victim in this case in the retrial. 610 So. 2d at 1280-1281.

Appellant contends that his admissions on the CBS videotape to Corderi mentioning McVey and distinguishing that victim from others was improper. In his last appeal this Court ruled:

> "We disagree, however, with Long's contention that no part of the videotape is admissible because it merely shows criminal propensity and because it refers to the Hillsborough County murders that Long claims were improperly introduced as Williams rule evidence. We find that, upon remand, the videotape may be admissible as an admission against interest; however, whether portions of it are irrelevant or whether the probative value of some of Long's statements are substantially outweighed by unfair prejudice are issues that can be addressed in the new trial."

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